### **RECEIVED**

04-08-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP000152-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

DAVID AARON PIGGUE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable David L. Borowski, Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Daniel L. Konkol, Presiding.

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Mr. Piggue was tried for the sexual assault of AJ; a jury found him not guilty. About a month later, the State charged him in this case with witness intimidation. The State alleged that, while he was in jail during the sexual assault trial, he asked his girlfriend to contact AJ to dissuade her from either coming to court or from lying in court. The sexual assault allegations, and what happened at the sexual assault trial at which he was acquitted, then became a central focus of the sentencing in this case.

Under Wisconsin Statute § 973.155, and the Wisconsin Supreme Court's rationale in *State v Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155, is Mr. Piggue entitled to sentence credit in this case for the 84 days he spent in custody for the underlying sexual assault charge that provided the basis for the witness intimidation?

The circuit court concluded that Mr. Piggue was not entitled to this sentence credit. (31;App.105-108).

# STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION AND ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Piggue would welcome oral argument should this Court find it helpful. Publication may be warranted to address the application of Wisconsin Statute § 973.155 and *Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, to a case where the offense for which the defendant is being sentenced is factually and legally connected to the offense for which he was acquitted, and where the allegations and circumstances of the acquittal are discussed extensively at the subsequent sentencing.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

A. The Acquittal in the Underlying Sexual Assault Case and Subsequent Witness Intimidation Charge in this Case

Mr. Piggue pled guilty to one count of Felony Intimidation of a Witness. (41). As set forth in the criminal complaint, Mr. Piggue was previously charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 12-CF-6044 with the First-Degree Sexual Assault of AJ. (2). AJ's testimony at the trial in that case began on March 4, 2013. (2). On March 5, 2013, AJ informed the district attorney's office that she received a phone call from a woman who said she was Mr. Piggue's girlfriend. (2). This woman asked AJ "is this really that serious" and said "you shouldn't do this." (2). Police obtained recorded jail calls in which Mr. Piggue made comments to his girlfriend that "she got up on the stand and lied" and asking that she see if AJ would change her story. (2). Police also obtained letters from Mr. Piggue's girlfriend's home, in which Mr. Piggue asked his girlfriend to call AJ and ask her "how much money she wants 4 this shit to go away." (2).

As also set forth in the complaint, Mr. Piggue acknowledged writing the letters, providing his girlfriend with AJ's phone number, and telling his girlfriend to tell AJ to not come to court and to offer her money to not come to court. (2).

The sexual assault trial proceeded to a verdict; on March 7, 2013, the jury found Mr. Piggue not guilty of sexually assaulting AJ. (42:7;App.140;see also 31:2;App.106, noting the date of acquittal). The State issued a complaint charging Mr. Piggue with intimidation of a witness on April 5, 2013. (2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The parties agreed to the facts in the criminal complaint as the factual basis for the plea. (41:9).

#### B. Sentencing

The sexual assault allegations for which the jury acquitted Mr. Piggue became a central focus of the sentencing for the witness intimidation charge. The State explained to the court that, given that sentencing courts are supposed to have "full knowledge of the character and behavior pattern of the defendant before imposing sentence," it wished for AJ "to discuss the first degree sexual assault." (42:7;App.140). It "also provided to the court the records from the Sexual Assault Treatment Center and the DNA report filed by Ron Witucki that outlined the DNA evidence that the state had in the first degree sexual assault." (42:7;App.140).<sup>2</sup>

AJ then gave the sentencing court a detailed verbal account of her allegations against Mr. Piggue: that Mr. Piggue approached her at a bus stop and asked what her name was and whether she was single; that they got on the same bus, and he asked her if she wanted to give him her number and that she said no; that they got off at the same bus stop; that he had a gun and told her to come to him or he would shoot her; that he told her to lay down on her stomach and take of her pants, and that he had "intercourse" with her while she asked him to stop; that he then walked away and she ran away. (42:8-12;App.141-145).

The State explained that Mr. Piggue's sperm was found on her "labia swabs, her lower buttocks swabs, her vaginal swabs, the gauze pad, and her pants." (42:16;App.149). The State further stated that AJ was "shown a photo array, and she thought it was the defendant but was not 100 percent sure which just goes to show that she had no idea who the defendant was when he approached her that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The sexual assault treatment and DNA records the State discussed at sentencing do not appear to have been filed in the record in this case.

day." (42:16-17;App.149-150). The State explained that Mr. Piggue told police "20 times that it was not him on the bus," and that he "doesn't have sex in the alley," and continued to deny it even when shown still photos from the bus video. (42:16-17;App.149-50).

The State also asserted that Mr. Piggue's "attitude towards women and his manipulation of [his girlfriend] and his attempted manipulation or successful manipulation of the situation in his first degree sexual assault is despicable." (42:22;App.155). The State argued that it was "just because she [AJ] has to ride the bus" that she "had a chance encounter with the defendant who took her behind an apartment building and forced his penis in her vagina. She didn't do anything else other than ride the bus." (42:22-23;App.155-156).

Defense counsel stated that it knew that the court could "take into consideration uncharged offenses and acquitted conduct;" however, he believed that the State had "unfairly injected the first case into the second case in an effort" "to in effect retry this case." (42: 24,26;App.157,159). Defense counsel noted that though that trial had been held before a different judge, the prosecutor was the same in both cases. (42:26;App.159).

Defense counsel also explained that weeks before the sexual assault trial began, Mr. Piggue sent a letter to the court handling the trial explaining that he was innocent and why he was innocent. (42:26;App.159). He further noted that when the State became aware of the call that had been made to AJ, "there was no request made of the court to end the trial," "no indication made to the court that the witness didn't want to testify, that the witness somehow was fearful about testifying." (42:27-28;App.160-161). Instead, "[t]he trial continued," and Mr. Piggue provided testimony consistent with the letter he previously sent to the court. (42:28;App.161).

At this point in the sentencing, the circuit court asked, "[w]hat was his defense, counsel?" (42:29;App.162). The State answered: "She's a whore. That's the defense. She's a prostitute." (42:29;App.162). The circuit court asked if that was indeed the defense, and noted that "both sides are retrying this now." (42:29;App.162). Defense counsel explained that he did not wish to retry it, but noted that whenever someone is convicted he is "told the jury has spoken," but that whenever "someone is found not guilty whatever the jury said falls on deaf ears." (42:29;App.162). "I don't want to try this again, but I think it's important that I present a perspective of this case other than retrying so that the court can take into consideration how much weight it should be given which is what the state is asking this Court to do today." (42:30;App.163).

Instead, defense counsel stated that he wished to focus on Mr. Piggue's acceptance of responsibility in this case: "And that acceptance of responsibility is a realization that when there was an accusation of an assault, a false accusation, Mr. Piggue was concerned that he was going to be separated from his only child." (42:30-31;App.163-164).

The State recommended nine years initial confinement followed by five years extended supervision—the maximum length of sentence with a habitual offender penalty enhancer. (42:24;App.157). Defense counsel asked for a sentence of three years initial confinement followed by three years of extended supervision. (42:34;App.167). Defense counsel also explained that Mr. Piggue spent "203 days now in custody" but also spent "80 days in custody for the sexual assault offense where a jury determined that he was not guilty." (42:33;App.166).

The circuit court discussed the sexual assault trial when imposing its sentence. (42:37-60;App.170-193). It noted that the DNA evidence proved that "sexual contact or sexual intercourse" occurred and discussed how "sperm fractions" were "found on the victim's lower buttocks, her

labia, her vaginal area, her pants." (42:41;App.174). Though the court acknowledged that "did not preside over the trial," it found Mr. Piggue's defense "basically impossible to believe." (42:42;App.175). "Not to say that there's someone who may engage in allegedly prostitution looks a certain way, but I do not believe for one minute that Miss J[] is or was a prostitute." (42:43;App.176). The court stated that the "victim in this case is obviously extremely traumatized by the totality of these circumstances, the underlying sexual assault case, the verdict in that case, and the prosecution in this matter, including the phone call from this defendant's girlfriend or significant other." (42:43;App.176).

The court later again reiterated that it wholly rejected the idea that AJ could have been working as a prostitute:

And even if I believed, which I do not that she was a prostitute, again, that is preposterous, I could maybe be convinced that somehow, maybe—again, I wasn't at the trial. I didn't hear the testimony. I could maybe be convinced that this was consensual, but there is no way on God's earth that Miss J[] is a prostitute.

(42:49;App.182).

The circuit court imposed a sentence of six years initial confinement followed by five years extended supervision, and ordered 203 days sentence credit. (42:37-60;App.170-193). It also ordered Mr. Piggue to pay the \$250 DNA surcharge. (42:59;App.192).

#### C. Post-Conviction Motion and Decision

Mr. Piggue filed a post-conviction motion. (30;App.109-133). He asked the circuit court to (1) remove the habitual offender repeater enhancer and commute his sentence to five years initial confinement followed by five years extended supervision (the maximum length of sentence absent the enhancer), on grounds that the State failed to meet its burden to prove the repeater enhancer; (2) award him 84

days additional sentence credit for the time he spent awaiting trial on the underlying sexual assault charge; (3) award him one additional day of sentence credit for the time he spent in custody on this case; and (4) vacate the DNA surcharge. (30;App.109-133).

As grounds for his claim that the court should award him 84 days credit for the time he spent in custody on the underlying sexual assault charge, for which he was acquitted, Mr. Piggue presented two arguments. (30:11-14;App.119-122). First, he argued that he was entitled to this credit under Wisconsin Statute § 973.155 and the rationale underlying the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Floyd*, 2010 WI 14, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155. (30:11-14;App.119-122). Second, he alternatively argued that the court should modify his sentence to 84 fewer days of initial confinement on grounds that he is equitably entitled to the credit, in light of the extensive discussion of and reliance at his sentencing on the facts of the sexual assault on which Mr. Piggue was acquitted. (30:14;App.122).

He presented as exhibits to his post-conviction motion records reflecting that he was arrested for the alleged sexual assault on December 14, 2012 and remained in custody until the jury found him not guilty on March 7, 2013—a total of 84 days. (30:7-8,19-25;App.115-116,127-133).

The circuit court granted the relief requested, except for his request for the 84 days sentence credit for the time he spent in custody on the underlying sexual assault charge. (31;32;App.103-108).

With regard to the claim for 84 days sentence credit for the time spent in custody on the underlying sexual assault, the circuit court first concluded that Mr. Piggue was not entitled to it under Wisconsin Statute § 973.155. (31:2-3;App.106-107). The court explained that "[a]lthough the intimidation charge in this case emanates from the defendant's conduct while he was in custody for the sexual

assault charge, he was not charged with intimidation until the complaint was filed on April 5, 2013, nearly a month after he was acquitted by a jury of the sexual assault charge." (31:2; App. 106). The court determined that the 84 days credit was not "in connection with the specific act" alleged in this case. (31:2;App.106). The court further noted: "Even assuming for the sake of argument that the defendant's custody for the sexual assault charge 'fundamentally relates to the offense for which he was sentenced here,' the court fails to perceive why the defendant would be entitled to credit from December 14, 2012, when the offense in 13CF001642 was not committed until March 4, 2013, three days before he was acquitted of the sexual assault." (31:3;App.107). The court also rejected Mr. Piggue's citation to *Floyd*, noting that "Floyd held that a defendant is entitled to credit for time spent in custody for charges that are dismissed and read-in at sentencing. That is not what happened here." (31:3;App.107).

The circuit court further denied Mr. Piggue's alternative, equitable claim for sentence modification to account for the 84 days. (31:3;App.107). The court noted that "[n]o Wisconsin court has recognized equitable relief of this nature." (31:3;App.107). The court continued on to explain that Mr. Piggue had already received a "benefit" by being acquitted of the sexual assault charge

While the defendant may believe that he has accrued some unrealized benefit in the form of 84 days of custodial time for the sexual assault charge, he overlooks the fact that he was acquitted of the sexual assault charge—a crime for which he was facing 60 years imprisonment. An acquittal is no small matter. Constitutional double jeopardy protections prohibit the State from a second prosecution of this charge—a significant benefit of the acquittal. The defendant is not entitled to the additional benefit of a sentence reduction of his intimidation sentence.

(31:3;App.107).

Mr. Piggue filed a notice of appeal. (33). He now appeals the circuit court's decision denying his motion for 84 days sentence credit for the time he spent in custody on the underlying sexual assault charge.<sup>3</sup>

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. Mr. Piggue is Entitled to the 84 Days He Spent In Custody Awaiting Trial on the Underlying Sexual Assault Charge, For Which He was Acquitted.
  - A. General principles of law and standards of review

Wisconsin Statute § 973.155 governs when a person is entitled to sentence credit. The statute provides, in relevant part:

- (1)(a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:
- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.

Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). This statute requires two determinations: (1) whether the defendant was in custody; and (2) whether the custody was "in connection with" the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Piggue does not renew his alternative argument for sentence modification to account for the 84 days spent in custody.

"course of conduct for which the sentence was imposed." *State v. Johnson*, 2007 WI 107, ¶ 31, 304 Wis. 2d 318, 735 N.W.2d 505. The defendant has the burden to prove both of these criteria. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 77, ¶ 11, 327 Wis. 2d 1, 785 N.W.2d 516.

The jail records attached to Mr. Piggue's post-conviction motion established that he was in the custody of the Milwaukee County Jail from December 14, 2012 to March 7, 2013, a total of 84 days. (30:7-8,19-25;App.115-116,127-133). Thus, the central question in this case is whether those 84 days are "in connection with" the "course of conduct for which the sentence was imposed."

Statutory interpretation, including whether a defendant is entitled to sentence credit is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Brown*, 2010 WI App 43, ¶ 4, 324 Wis. 2d 236, 781 N.W.2d 244; *see also State v. Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, ¶ 11, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155. "The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern the intent of the legislature in enacting the statutory provision." *Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, ¶ 11. The first step is to look at the plain language of the statute; if the plain language proves ambiguous, courts look "beyond the language to examine the scope, history, context, and purpose of the statute." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). "A statute is ambiguous if reasonable, well-informed persons may differ as to its meaning." *Id.* 

#### B. State v. Floyd

In *Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that a defendant is entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody for a charge that is dismissed but read-in at sentencing.

In *Floyd*, the defendant entered a plea to charges of reckless endangerment and felony bail jumping; pursuant to the plea agreement, all other charges, including an armed robbery charge, were ordered to be dismissed but read-in at

sentencing. Id., ¶ 4. Importantly, in discussing the facts of the case, the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted that the armed robbery was discussed extensively in the pre-sentence investigation report:

The description of the armed robbery charge contained in the report was both lengthy and detailed. An equal amount of discussion was devoted to the read-in armed robbery charge as to the reckless endangerment charge. The victim impact statement in the report also related the serious consequences of Floyd's armed robbery charge, describing the victim's various psychological and financial problems.

#### *Id.*, ¶ 5.

The defendant made two arguments as to why he was entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody for the read-in offense: first, that the time was "in connection" with the conduct for which he was sentenced because it was dismissed and read-in in exchange for a plea to the offense for which he was sentenced; second, that the time was "related to an offense for which he was ultimately sentenced" "because the trial court took the read-in armed robbery charge into account when sentencing him for reckless endangerment." *Id.*, ¶¶ 14, 18.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected the first argument, explaining that while a "factual connection fulfills the statutory requirement for sentence credit," "a procedural or other tangential connection will not suffice." ¶ 17.

The Court, however, unanimously agreed with Floyd's second argument. *Id.* ¶¶ 18-32. The Court concluded that the meaning of "confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced" is ambiguous, and thus looked beyond the language to the statute's history and purpose. *Id.*, ¶¶ 18-20.

The Court explained that the sentence credit statute "has its roots in the constitutional principle of equal protection," with a "broad statutory base" "which exceeded the restricted scope of the common law." *Id.*, ¶¶ 21-23. This Court recognized that the sentence credit statute is "designed to afford fairness" and ensure "that a person not serve more time than he is sentenced"; designed to serve a "remedial purpose underlying the conscious effort to provide sentence credit in a wide range of situations." *Id.*, ¶ 23, quoting *State v. Beets*, 124 Wis. 2d 372, 379, 369 N.W.2d 382 (1985).

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