STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-24-2015

DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

Case No. 2015AP152-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID AARON PIGGUE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. KONKOL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
ARGUMENT				
PIGGUE IS NOT ENTITLED TO SENTENCE CREDIT FOR TIME SPENT IN CUSTODY ON A CHARGE FOR WHICH HE WAS ACQUITTED				
A. I	ntroduction3			
	Applicable Law and Standard of Review4			
1	. Sentence Credit Generally4			
2	2. Floyd5			
C. H	Facts7			
1	. Sentencing7			
2	2. Postconviction motion and decision8			
A C	The Requested Credit is Not Available under <i>Floyd</i> , and this Court May Not Extend <i>Floyd</i> to Grant Such Relief			
CONCLUSION				

Page

CASES CITED

Cook v. Cook,		
208 Wis. 2d 166, 560 N.W. 2d 246 (1007)		
560 N.W. 2d 246 (1997) 13		
State v. Beiersdorf,		
208 Wis. 2d 492,		
561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997) 4, 5		
State v. Cleaves,		
181 Wis. 2d 73,		
510 N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1993)		
State v. Floyd,		
2000 WI 14,		
232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 1551, passim		
State v. Leitner,		
2002 WI 77,		
253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341 11		
State v. Prineas,		
2009 WI App 28, 216 Wig 2d 414 766 N W 2d 206 7 12		
316 Wis. 2d 414,766 N.W.2d 206 7, 13		
State v. Straszkowski,		
2008 WI 65,		
310 Wis. 2d 259,750 N.W.2d 835 3, 6, 12		
State v. Szarkowitz, 157 Wis. 2d 740,		
460 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1990)		

Page

State v	v. Villalobos,
-	196 Wis. 2d 141,
Ę	537 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1995) 4

STATUTES CITED

Wis. Stat.	§ 973.155	
Wis. Stat.	§ 973.155(1)(a)	

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP152-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID AARON PIGGUE, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED JUDGEMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DAVID L. KONKOL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Under State v. Floyd, 2000 WI 14, $\P\P$ 25-32, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 606 N.W.2d 155, a defendant is entitled to sentence credit for time spent in custody on a dismissed

charge that is read-in at sentencing. *Floyd* limited its holding to read-in offenses, expressly distinguishing acquittals and outright dismissals from read-ins. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶¶ 30-31. Piggue seeks credit for days spent in custody on a charge for which he was acquitted. Does *Floyd* authorize an award of credit for time spent in custody on an acquittal, and, if not, may this court extend *Floyd* to authorize sentence credit for custody on acquittals?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs of the parties should adequately address the legal issue presented, which may be resolved by application of *Floyd* to the facts of the case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Piggue's statement of the case and facts is adequate to frame the issue on appeal. The State therefore exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case, *see* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2., and instead provides a brief narrative of the facts in the Argument section.

ARGUMENT

PIGGUE IS NOT ENTITLED TO SENTENCE CREDIT FOR TIME SPENT IN CUSTODY ON A CHARGE FOR WHICH HE WAS ACQUITTED.

A. Introduction.

On appeal, Piggue argues that the circuit court erred in denying his postconviction request for 84 days of sentence credit for time spent in custody on a sexual assault charge for which he was acquitted at trial. Piggue maintains that, because the circuit court relied on the sexual assault allegations in sentencing him, the acquittal was "an offense for which [he] was ultimately sentenced," and thus credit is available under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) (Piggue's Br. at 12-13). Piggue acknowledges that, in *Floyd*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the availability of credit for time spent in custody on other offenses, including acquittals, and expressly limited credit to offenses read-in for sentencing But Piggue appears to argue that the court purposes. effectively removed this limitation in State v. Straszkowski, 2008 WI 65, 310 Wis. 2d 259, 750 N.W.2d 835 (Piggue's Br. at 14).

As developed below, Piggue reads far too much into *Straszkowski*, and *Floyd* controls. Because this court lacks the authority to extend *Floyd* to authorize credit for acquittals, this court must follow *Floyd* and affirm the circuit court's order denying sentence credit.

B. Applicable Law and Standard of Review.

1. Sentence Credit Generally.

The defendant carries the burden of proving that he or she is entitled to the sentence credit requested. See State v. Villalobos, 196 Wis. 2d 141, 148, 537 N.W.2d 139 (Ct. App. 1995). For sentence credit to be awarded, two requirements must be satisfied: (1) the defendant must have been "in custody" for the period in question; and (2) the period "in custody" must have been "in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed." See State v. Beiersdorf, 208 Wis. 2d 492, 496, 561 N.W.2d 749 (Ct. App. 1997). The sentence credit statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.155, provides in relevant part:

(1) (a) A convicted offender shall be given credit toward the service of his or her sentence for all days spent in custody in connection with the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed. As used in this subsection, "actual days spent in custody" includes, without limitation by enumeration, confinement related to an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced, or for any other sentence arising out of the same course of conduct, which occurs:

- 1. While the offender is awaiting trial;
- 2. While the offender is being tried; and
- 3. While the offender is awaiting imposition of sentence after trial.

The application of Wis. Stat. § 973.155 to undisputed facts presents a question of law this court reviews *de novo*. *Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d at 496.

2. Floyd

In *Floyd*, the defendant was convicted upon a guilty plea of reckless endangerment and felony bail jumping, and sought sentence credit for time spent in custody on an armed robbery charge that, pursuant to the plea agreement, was dismissed but read-in for sentencing purposes. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶ 1. Floyd argued that his custody on the armed robbery charge (1) was "in connection with" the reckless endangerment charge by virtue of being dismissed but read in at sentencing in exchange for a plea to reckless endangerment; and (2) was "related to an offense for which [he] was sentenced" because the court took into account the read-in armed robbery offense in imposing sentence. *Id.*, ¶¶ 14, 18.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court rejected Floyd's first argument on grounds that a procedural connection—i.e., the plea agreement tying the reckless endangerment charge to the read-in armed robbery charge—may not satisfy the statute's "in connection with" requirement, citing *Beiersdorf*, 208 Wis. 2d at 498. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶¶ 15-17.

The court ultimately agreed with Floyd's second argument, however. The court determined that the phrase "related to an offense for which [he] was sentenced" was ambiguous in this context, and examined the legislative history and purpose of Wis. Stat. § 973.155. *Id.*, ¶¶ 18-23. The court then considered the nature of read-in offenses, noting that a sentencing court "considers read-ins as a part of a defendant's conduct in determining the appropriate sentence." *Id.*, ¶ 25. While the offender cannot receive a concurrent or consecutive sentence on a read-in charge, or be subject to a future prosecution on the charge, "there is exposure to the risk of a lengthier sentence as a result of consideration by the court of read-in charges." *Id.*, ¶ 26.

Citing State v. Cleaves, 181 Wis. 2d 73, 78-79, 510 N.W.2d 143 (Ct. App. 1993), the court also noted that "[r]ead-ins constitute admissions by the defendant to those charges," *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767 ¶ 25, language later withdrawn by *Straszkowski*, 310 Wis. 2d 259, ¶¶ 89, 95.

Finally, the court applied the rule of lenity to the ambiguous statute, and concluded that custody on a dismissed charged that is read in at sentencing relates to "an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced." *Id.*, ¶¶ 31-32.

Responding to a State's argument that the award of credit for pretrial custody on read-in offenses would result in credit "for a myriad of dismissed and other charges that also may be considered or mentioned at sentencing," the court drew a clear line and limited its holding to read-in offenses. The court explained its decision was "guided by" *State v. Szarkowitz*, 157 Wis. 2d 740, 755-56, 460 N.W.2d 819 (Ct. App. 1990), in which this court read the restitution statute to provide restitution for victims of offenses read in at sentencing, but not victims of other offenses considered at sentencing. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶¶ 28-29.

"In limiting the statute's scope," the *Floyd* court explained, "we recognize the important distinction between read-ins and other charges, including pending charges acquittals or dismissals." *Id.*, ¶ 31.

C. Facts.

1. Sentencing.

Piggue was charged with first-degree sexual assault in the 2012 rape of A.J., and appears to have spent 84 days in custody before and during the trial on that charge (2:2; 22; A-App. 130). After the first day of trial, Piggue called his girlfriend from jail and told her to call A.J. and urge her to either not testify or change her story (2:2). The girlfriend did so (2:2). A jury acquitted Piggue of the sexual assault charge, but prosecutors later charged Piggue with conspiring to intimidate a witness (2; 42:7; A-App. 140).

Piggue pled guilty to the witness intimidation charge (32; A-App. 101). At sentencing, A.J. gave a statement recounting the sexual assault, and the call she received from Piggue's girlfriend urging her not to testify (42:8-16; A-App. 141-49). The prosecutor asked the sentencing court to consider the facts of the alleged assault for which Piggue was acquitted, properly noting that Wisconsin courts may consider facts related to acquittals, as well as uncharged and unproven offenses, in imposing sentence, citing *State v. Prineas*, 2009 WI App 28, ¶ 28, 316 Wis. 2d 414, 766 N.W.2d 206 (42:6-7; A-App. 139-40). The prosecutor outlined the facts of the alleged assault, and the existence of DNA-tested

semen evidence taken from A.J.'s body and clothes after the alleged assault establishing that Piggue had had sexual contact with A.J. (42:7, 16, 41-42; A-App. 140, 149, 174-75). When the court asked what Piggue's defense had been, the prosecutor said that A.J. had been a prostitute—apparently, that A.J. had consented to sex with Piggue in exchange for money (42:28-29; A-App. 161-62).

In passing sentence, the court began by addressing the sexual assault allegations, and concluded that it did not believe that A.J. had been working as a prostitute (42:42-43; A-App. 175-76). But, following this discussion, the court declared the gravity of *the witness intimidation charge* was the "primary ... factor" in the court's sentence (42:44; A-App. 177), and, as a whole, the court's explanation of sentence reflects this assertion (*see* 42:44-57; A-App. 177-90).

The court sentenced Piggue to six years' initial confinement and five years' extended supervision substantially less than the State's recommendation of the maximum sentence of nine years' initial confinement and five years' extended supervision on the charge of witness intimidation as a repeat offender (32:2; 42:6; A-App. 101, 139). The court awarded 203 days sentence credit for predisposition custody on the witness intimidation charge (15; 42:58; A-App. 191).

2. Postconviction motion and decision.

In a postconviction motion, Piggue requested, among other relief, an award of an additional 84 days sentence credit for time spent custody on the sexual assault charge for which he was acquitted (30:11-14; A-App. 119-22). Piggue argued that the rationale underlying *Floyd* warranted granting credit in his case, and, alternatively, that the circuit court should exercise its inherent power to reduce Piggue's sentence by 84 days where the sentencing court gave "extensive consideration" to the sexual assault allegations in imposing sentence (30:12-14; A-App. 120-22).

While granting other unrelated relief requested in the motion,¹ the circuit court denied Piggue's request for credit on his confinement on the sexual assault charge (31:2-3; A-App. 106-107). The court concluded, in part, that it would be inappropriate to award the requested amount of 84 days when no factual connection existed between the prior and current charges until the 81st day of Piggue's custody:

[T]he court fails to perceive why the defendant would be entitled to credit from December 14, 2012, when the offense in [the witness intimidation case] was not committed until March 4, 2013, three days before he was acquitted of the sexual assault. In short, postconviction counsel's request for 84 days of sentence credit exceeds the logic of her argument, since the "factual connections" between the charges did not exist until March 4, 2013.

(31:36: A-App. 107).

In a footnote, the court observed that Floyd had held that sentence credit was available for time spent in custody

¹ The court granted Piggue's requests (1) to remove the repeater enhancement and commute the confinement portion of his sentence to five years, the maximum allowed without the enhancer; (2) to vacate the DNA surcharge imposed at sentencing; and (3) to award an additional one day of sentence credit (31; A-App. 105).

on read-in offenses, and "[t]hat is not what happened here." (31:3 n.3; A-App. 107). The court also rejected Piggue's alternative request for the court to exercise its inherent powers to reduce Piggue's sentence by 84 days. (31:3; A-App. 107).

D. The Requested Credit is Not Available under *Floyd*, and this Court May Not Extend *Floyd* to Grant Such Relief.

Piggue seeks reversal of the circuit court's order denying sentence credit. He argues that, as with the custody on the read-in offense in *Floyd*, Piggue's custody on the sexual assault charge was "related to an offense for which sentenced" (Piggue's Br. at 12-13). Piggue fhel was maintains that the sexual assault charge was related to the witness intimidation charge because he was in custody on the former charge when he committed the acts resulting in the latter charge, and both charges had the same victim (Piggue's Br. at 13). Piggue also argues that the sexual assault charge was related "because it became a centralarguably the primary—focus at the sentencing for witness intimidation" (Piggue's Br. at 13).

As an initial matter, the State disputes Piggue's implication that his sentence was based primarily on the sexual assault allegations. While the prosecutor focused on those allegations, and A.J. recounted the assault and its impact on her life at the hearing, the sentencing transcript shows that the alleged assault was not the "primary focus" of the court's sentence (*see* 42:37-57; A-App. 177-90). The

gravity of the witness intimidation charge was (42:44; A-App. 177). And it is well-established that "[a] sentencing court may consider uncharged and unproven offenses and facts related to offenses for which the defendant has been acquitted." *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 45, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341.

Regardless, what matters for purposes of this court's decision is that *Floyd* controls. *Floyd* expressly limited the availability of sentence credit to time spent in custody on read-in offenses, specifically distinguishing custody on acquittals, pending charges and outright dismissals from read-ins. *Floyd*, 232 Wis. 2d 767, ¶ 31 ("In limiting the statute's scope, we recognize the important distinction between read-ins and other charges, including pending charges, acquittals or dismissals."). Whether the rationale underlying *Floyd* may support an award of sentence credit in Piggue's case,² sentence credit is not available because *Floyd*

² Moreover, the State questions that rationale—i.e., the correctness of the supreme court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a) in *Floyd*. In the State's view, the conduct charged in an offense read in at sentencing is not "the course of conduct for which sentence was imposed," and a read-in offense is not "an offense for which the offender is ultimately sentenced." Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a). Respectfully, both statutory provisions plainly refer to the offense(s) for which the defendant is convicted and "ultimately sentenced."

Of course, the rule that the supreme court adopted in *Floyd* is clear and workable: credit is available for custody on all read-ins, but not for custody on other offenses like acquittals. But, respectfully, the rule does not square with the language of the statute. Even if the statute could reasonably be interpreted to authorize credit for custody on read-in offenses, it is even more plain that the statute cannot support an interpretation that includes *all* read-in offenses. Only

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